IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 69,468

PAMELA K. COON, as Personal Representative of the Estate of JERRY FRANK COON, Deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY, c/o Underwriters Adjusting Company,

Respondent.

OCT SO 1998
CLISCO, A 1998 MAS COMPANY
Deputy Clork

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

WAGNER, CUNNINGHAM, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A.
708 Jackson Street
Tampa, Florida 33602
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A.
Suite 800, City National Bank Building
25 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800

BY: JOEL S. PERWIN

ISSUE A
	ISSUE B4
I V.	CONCLUSION
v.	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE8

TABLE OF CASES

PAGE

Adams v. Gordon. 260 So.2d 246 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972)6 Alexander v. Booth. Alexsis, Inc. v. Bryk, 471 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)......2-4 Arex Indemnity Co. v. Radin, Becker v. Amos. 105 Fla. 231, 141 So. 136 (1932)6 Cassady v. Consolidated Naval Stores Co., 119 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1960)6 City of Jacksonville Beach v. Albury, 291 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973), City of Miami v. Romfh, 66 Fla. 280, 63 So. 440 (1913)6 Comer v. State of Florida, Unemployment Appeals Commission. Deltona Corp. v. Florida Public Utilities Commission, Department of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1976)5-6 Devin v. City of Hollywood, 351 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976)5 Florida Industrial Commission v. Manpower, Inc. of Miami. Foley v. State ex rel. Gordon, Forehand v. Board of Public Instruction of Duval County.

TABLE OF CASES

PAGE

Garcia v. Department of Labor and Employment Security, 426 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983)
General Properties Co. v. Greening, 154 Fla. 814, 18 So.2d 908 (1944)
Girard Trust Co. v. Tampashores Development Co., 95 Fla. 1010, 117 So. 786 (1928)
Good Samaritan Hospital Association v. Simon, 370 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979)
In Re Estate of Watkins, 75 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1954)
In Re National Automobile Underwriters Association, 184 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966)
In Re Ruff's Estate, 159 Fla. 777, 32 So.2d 840 (1947)
Lee v. Gulf Oil Corp., 148 Fla. 612, 4 So.2d 868 (1941)
McKibben v. Mallory, 293 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1974)
Overman v. State Board of Control, 62 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1952)
Paul Smith Construction Co. v. Florida Industrial Commission, 93 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1957)
93 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1957)
Radio Telephone Communications, Inc. v. Southeastern Telephone Co., 170 So.2d 577 (Fla. 1964)
Ryder Truck Rental, Inc. v. Bryant, 170 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1964)
Sagaert v. State Department of Labor and Unemployment Security, Employment Appeals Commission, 418 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982)
Sharer v. Hotel Corp. of America, 144 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1962)

TABLE OF CASES

PAGE

State ex rel. Bash v. County Commissioners of Jefferson County, 20 Fla. 425 (1884)6
State ex rel. Florida Industrial Commission v. Willis, 124 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960), cert. denied, 133 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1961)
State ex rel. Johnston v. Bessinger, 155 Fla. 730, 21 So.2d 343 (1945)6
State v. Egan, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973)5
State v. Gale Distributors, Inc., 349 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1977)4
State v. Stuler, 122 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1960)5
State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981)
State v. Zimmerman, 370 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979)5
Sunshine State News Co. v. State, 121 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1960)
Van Pelt v. Hilliard, 75 Fla. 792, 78 So. 693 (1918)6
Vocelle v. Knight Brothers Paper Co., 118 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960)
Wakulla County v. Davis, 395 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1981)6
Wallace Corp. v. Overstreet, 99 So.2d 626 (Fla. 3rd DCA), cert. dismissed, 102 So.2d 727 (Fla. 1958)
Weiss v. Leonardy, 160 Fla. 570, 36 So.2d 184 (1948)
Wilensky v. Fields, 267 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972)4

AUTHORITY

	Aomouri	PAGE
\$440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (1981)		

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts of this case are well stated in the district court's opinion, which is attached as an appendix to this brief. The petitioner's decedent, Jerry Coon, was injured in an industrial accident, and received workers' compensation benefits from respondent Continental Insurance Co. (hereinafter "Continental") before his death (A. 2). In petitioner Pamela Coon's subsequent wrongful-death action, Continental filed a claim of lien under \$440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (1981), in the amount of \$71,336.45. Coon eventually received a settlement from some of the defendants, and the trial court interpreted the 1981 version of \$440.39(3)(a) to require that Continental's lien be reduced by a pro-rata share of the attorneys' fees and costs incurred by the Coon estate in the action, and thus reduced Continental's net recovery to \$30,445.49 (A. 2-3).

In relevant part, \$440.39(3)(a) of the 1981 Florida Statutes provided as follows:

Upon suit being filed, the employer or the insurance carrier, as the case may be, may file in the suit a notice of payment of compensation and medical benefits to the employee or his dependents, which said notice shall constitute a lien upon any judgment or settlement recovered to the extent that the court may determine to be their pro rata share for compensation and medical benefits paid or to be paid under the provisions of this law. The employer or carrier shall recover from the judgment, after attorney's fees and costs incurred by the employee or dependent in that suit have been deducted, 100 percent of what it has paid and future benefits to be paid, unless the employee or dependent can demonstrate to the court that he did recover the full value of damages sustained because of comparative negligence or because of limits of insurance coverage and collectibility. The burden of proof will be upon the employee.

The district court rejected the trial court's interpretation of this language, holding that the statute "as it existed when Coon was injured in 1981, authorized a workers' compensation carrier to recover 100% of the total benefits it paid without any deduction for attorneys' fees and costs incurred in an action against third-party tort-feasors. C & T Erectors, Inc. v. Case, 481 So.2d 499 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985). The trial court properly determined that the 1981 statute applied. It erred, however, in deducting attorneys' fees

and costs from Continental's recovery" (A. 3).

In reaching this conclusion, the district court explicitly acknowledged that it conflicts with the decision in Alexsis, Inc. v. Bryk, 471 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985):

Appellee suggests we recede from our position in C & T Erectors, Inc. and follow the view of the Fourth District Court of Appeal expressed in Alexsis, Inc. v. Bryk, 471 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) and National Ben Franklin Insurance Co. v. Hall, 340 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). We rejected this argument in C & T Erectors, Inc., and we decline the invitation to revisit our holding in that case. We noted in C & T Erectors, Inc., that the conflict between our court and the Fourth District in the decisions on this point has been resolved by the 1983 amendment to section 440.39(3)(a). The 1983 statute provides that attorneys' fees and costs expended in third-party tort actions are to be prorated and the workers' compensation carrier's lien reduced accordingly. C & T Erectors, Inc., 481 So.2d at 501. Of course, we are bound to adhere to the meaning of section 440.39(3)(a) as it existed when Mr. Coon's accident occurred in 1981 (A. 3-4).

Thus, while noting that the new (1983) statute has "resolved" the conflict by expressly endorsing the pro-rata reduction which the trial court effected in this case, the district court explicitly acknowledged that its interpretation of the earlier (1981) statute is directly in conflict with decisions of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Coon filed a Motion for Clarification and Certification, which the district court denied in an order dated September 5, 1986. The instant petition was timely filed on October 3, 1986.

II ISSUES ON REVIEW

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH ALEXSIS, INC. v. BYRK, 471 So.2d 545 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1985).
- B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL CONCERNING THE PROPER INTERPRETATION OF FLORIDA STATUTES.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As the district court's decision itself acknowledges, it directly and expressly

conflicts with Alexsis, Inc. v. Bryk, 471 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), since Alexsis explicitly adopts the opposite construction of the 1981 version of \$440.39(3)(a). In addition, in contract to Alexsis, the district court's decision in this case conflicts with a number of decisions of this Court and other district courts concerning the proper interpretation of statutes.

IV ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH ALEXSIS, INC. v. BYRK, 471 So.2d 545 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1985).

The Alexsis case is factually indistinguishable from this one. As in this case, the trial court in Alexsis construed the 1981 version of \$440.39(3)(a) to require a "proration of attorneys' fees and costs between a workers' compensation carrier and an injured employee out of the proceeds of a third party tort claim and before any payment of the carrier's compensation lien is made." Id. at 546. In direct conflict to the decision in the instant case, the district court in Alexsis affirmed that pro-ration:

[W]e believe the subsequent action of the legislature in expressly providing for proration of fees and costs by an amendment to section 440.39(3) effective June 30, 1983 is actually a clarification of legislative intent, originally properly detected in National Ben Franklin [Ins. Co. v. Hall, 340 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976)].

To hold otherwise would require us to conclude that the legislature intended that the injured employee bear the complete expense of enforcing the carrier's right to recover its compensation payments from the third party tortfeasor. We do not believe the legislature intended such an unfair and unreasonable result. The net result in this case, and others like it, would be that the prosecution of the tort claim would primarily benefit the compensation carrier and the employee's lawyers. There would be little left over for the injured employee. Despite frequent accusations that some laws passed by the legislature are merely "lawyer relief bills," we believe the legislature would be taking a bum rap if we interpreted the statute to permit such a result here.

As the district court acknowledged in the instant case (A. 3), its opinion directly

and expressly conflicts with the fourth district's interpretation of the 1981 statute in Alexsis, Inc. v. Bryk. Although both cases acknowledge that the subsequent version of the statute, enacted in 1983, removes the ambiguity by expressly providing for a pro-rata reduction for attorneys' fees and costs, the cases directly and expressly conflict in their interpretation of the 1981 version of the statute, and that conflict must be resolved by this Court.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL CONCERNING THE PROPER INTERPRETATION OF FLORIDA STATUTES.

The 1981 statute expressly provides that compensation carriers have "a lien upon any judgment or settlement recovered to the extent that the court may determine to be their pro rata share for compensation and medical benefits paid or to be paid under the provisions of this law." The key phrase in that sentence is "pro rata share," and in Arex Indemnity Co. v. Radin, 72 So.2d 393, 395 (Fla. 1954), this Court noted that "the word 'pro rata' used in the amendment, when considered in the light of the remainder of the paragraph and its evident purpose, must be construed in its broadest aspect and not in a technical manner." Those words--"pro rata"--remained in the 1981 statute at issue in this case. Nevertheless, contrary to the fourth district's reasoning in Alexsis, Inc. v. Bryk, the district court decided to ignore those words, and instead to provide Continental with a complete recovery--not a "pro rata share" That outcome conflicts with a number of well-settled principles concerning statutory construction.

Although there may be isolated language in the 1981 statute which supports the district court's reasoning, it is well-settled that statutory language should not be read in isolation, but must be construed in its entirety and as a whole. $\frac{1}{2}$ This statute contains

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981); State v. Gale Distributors, Inc., 349 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1977); Wilensky v. Fields, 267 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972).

explicit language that compensation carriers are only entitled to what the court "may determine to be their pro rata share for compensation and medical benefits paid or to be paid under the provisions of this law." That language is positively inconsistent with the interpretation adopted by the district court, and that interpretation would render the "pro rata" language of the statute entirely superfluous, because the compensation carrier would be entitled not to some proportional share of the benefits paid, but to all of those benefits after the deductions of fees and costs. That cannot be the meaning of a statute which utilizes the phrase "pro rata," and that phrase must have some meaning, because statutory language should not be construed as mere surplusage. At the least therefore, this statute is ambiguous, and requires judicial interpretation. 4

In construing the statute, the central judicial task is to ascertain its legislative purpose. $\frac{4}{}$ The court must isolate the legislature's objective in enacting the statute, and interpret it in a manner consistent with that policy and spirit. $\frac{5}{}$ Given two available interpretations of an ambiguous statute, the court will avoid that construction which is

^{2/} See Alexander v. Booth, 56 So.2d 716 (Fla. 1952); Lee v. Gulf Oil Corp., 148 Fla. 612, 4 So.2d 868 (1941); Girard Trust Co. v. Tampashores Development Co., 95 Fla. 1010, 117 So. 786 (1928); State v. Zimmerman, 370 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); Forehand v. Board of Public Instruction of Duval County, 166 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964); Vocelle v. Knight Brothers Paper Co., 118 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960).

 $[\]frac{3}{}$ See Weiss v. Leonardy, 160 Fla. 570, 36 So.2d 184 (1948). See generally Ryder Truck Rental, Inc. v. Bryant, 170 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1964); State v. Stuler, 122 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1960). This task of statutory construction is a question of law for the court. See Devin v. City of Hollywood, 351 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

 $[\]frac{4}{}$ See Department of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1976); State v. Egan, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Deltona Corp. v. Florida Public Utilities Commission, 220 So.2d 905 (Fla. 1969); Devin v. City of Hollywood, 351 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

 $[\]frac{5}{}$ See Florida Industrial Commission v. Manpower, Inc. of Miami, 91 So.2d 197 (Fla. 1956); Weiss v. Leonardy, 160 Fla. 570, 36 So.2d 184 (1948); In Re Ruff's Estate, 159 Fla. 777, 32 So.2d 840 (1947); City of Jacksonville Beach v. Albury, 291 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973), aff'd, 295 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1974); Wallace Corp. v. Overstreet, 99 So.2d 626 (Fla. 3rd DCA), cert. dismissed, 102 So.2d 727 (Fla. 1958).

inconsistent with the legislative purpose, $\frac{6}{}$ or which produces unjust or unreasonable consequences; $\frac{7}{}$ and will adopt that interpretation which best will effectuate the legislature's intention. $\frac{8}{}$ In the face of an ambiguous statute, this search for legislative purpose may require a construction which appears in part to contradict the strict letter of the statute. $\frac{9}{}$ Especially where different parts of a statute contradict each other, that interpretation must be chosen which best achieves the legislature's intention, even if that means subordinating unavoidably-inconsistent language. $\frac{10}{}$ Against these principles, we consider the 1981 version of \$440.39(3)(a).

It is well-established that the general purpose of the worker's compensation statute is "to shoulder on industry the expense incident to hazards of industry and to lift from

 $[\]frac{6}{}$ See Becker v. Amos, 105 Fla. 231, 141 So. 136 (1932); Van Pelt v. Hilliard, 75 Fla. 792, 78 So. 693 (1918).

^{7/} See In Re Estate of Watkins, 75 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1954); Foley v. State ex rel. Gordon, 50 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1951); City of Miami v. Romfh, 66 Fla. 280, 63 So. 440 (1913); State ex rel. Bash v. County Commissioners of Jefferson County, 20 Fla. 425 (1884); Comer v. State of Florida, Unemployment Appeals Commission, 11 FLW 60 (Fla. 3rd DCA December 24, 1985) (per curiam); Sagaert v. State Department of Labor and Unemployment Security, Employment Appeals Commission, 418 So.2d 1228, 1230 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), citing McKibben v. Mallory, 293 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1974), and Good Samaritan Hospital Association v. Simon, 370 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); Garcia v. Department of Labor and Employment Security, 426 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983); State ex rel. Florida Industrial Commission v. Willis, 124 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960), cert. denied, 133 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1961).

^{8/} See Department of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1976); Radio Telephone Communications, Inc. v. Southeastern Telephone Co., 170 So.2d 577 (Fla. 1964); Cassady v. Consolidated Naval Stores Co., 119 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1960); Overman v. State Board of Control, 62 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1952); Adams v. Gordon, 260 So.2d 246 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972).

^{9/} See State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981); Wakulla County v. Davis, 395 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1981); Sunshine State News Co. v. State, 121 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1960).

 $[\]frac{10}{}$ See Sharer v. Hotel Corp. of America, 144 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1962); State ex rel. Johnston v. Bessinger, 155 Fla. 730, 21 So.2d 343 (1945); In Re National Automobile Underwriters Association, 184 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966).

the public the burden of supporting those incapacitated by industry." $\frac{11}{2}$ In this case, application of the statutory construction offered by Continental would directly undermine that purpose, by removing the threshold burden of compensation initially imposed upon the employer, and placing it squarely upon the employee. In the instant case, for example, the distribution ordered by the district court would allocate approximately \$26,000.00 of a \$175,000.00 settlement to the costs of prosecuting the action; another \$70,000.00 for attorneys' fees; and of the remaining \$79,000.00, approximately \$71,300.00 to Continental--leaving all the plaintiffs with a grand total of \$7,700.00--even though it was the plaintiffs' effort which secured the amount of the settlement. Of course, such an outcome would be directly inconsistent with the overriding statutory purpose of requiring the employer to shoulder the primary burden of employment-related accidents. It would fully compensate the carrier while providing the plaintiff with only 4.4% of the settlement. That outcome is not only inherently absurd, but is diametrically inconsistent with the central statutory purpose of placing the burden of compensation upon the employer--and thus with the underlying rules of statutory construction. Since the statute is sufficiently ambiguous to permit an alternative construction which at the very least would allocate pro rata the economic costs (in fees and costs) of securing a settlement or judgment, an outcome far-more consistent with the underlying statutory purpose than the outcome offered by the district court, the district court's holding is indefensible. It is indefensible because it conflicts with the well-settled principles of statutory construction which have repeatedly been endorsed by this Court.

IV CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the order of the district court directly and

 $[\]frac{11}{}$ General Properties Co. v. Greening, 154 Fla. 814, 18 So.2d 908 (1944). Accord, Paul Smith Construction Co. v. Florida Industrial Commission, 93 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1957); General Properties Co. v. Greening, 154 Fla. 814, 18 So.2d 908 (1944).

expressly conflicts with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal, and that this Court should exercise its discretion to resolve the conflict.

V CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

WE HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was mailed this 2000 day of October, 1986, to: MICHAEL L. ROSEN, ESQ., Holland & Knight, P.O. Drawer 810, Tallahassee, Florida 32302.

Respectfully submitted,

WAGNER, CUNNINGHAM, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A.
708 Jackson Street
Tampa, Florida 33602
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A.
Suite 800, City National Bank Building
25 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800

BY:

JOEL S. PERWIN

COON-PBJ/amg