IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 69,468

PAMELA K. COON, as Personal Representative of the Estate of JERRY FRANK COON, Deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY, c/o Underwriters Adjusting Company,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S JURISDICTIONAL REPLY BRIEF

Michael L. Rosen Charles E. Bentley, of HOLLAND & KNIGHT Post Office Drawer 810 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-7000

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The conflict with <u>Alexsis</u> arises solely from the Fourth District's improper construction of the statute. Because the conflict has been resolved by the 1983 amendment and by the unanimous decisions of this Court and the other district courts, there is no "real and embarrassing" conflict of sufficient import to warrant an exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

-3-

ARGUMENT

| The | Confl: | <u>ict</u> W | ith ' | The 1 | Four | th | Dist | <u>rict</u> | <u>'s</u> Dec | ci- |
|-----------------------|--------|--------------|-------|-------|------|------|------|-------------|---------------|-----|
| sion | In Ale | exsis | Has | Alre | eady | ′ Be | een | Reso | lved | Ву |
| The | 1983 | Amen | dmen | t Ai | nd | Ву | The | Deci | sions | Of |
| This | Court | And | Eve | ry (| Othe | er | Dist | rict | Cou: | rt, |
| | n_ Hav | | | | Re | jed | cted | The | Fou | rth |
| District's Reasoning. | | | | | | | | | | |

COON correctly points out that the decision below conflicts with Alexsis, Inc. v. Bryk, 471 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), on the question of whether section 440.39 (3)(a), Florida Statutes (1981), authorized a court to reduce a carrier's lien by deducting therefrom a share of the attorney's fees and costs incurred by employees in third-party tort actions. COON also correctly observes that the 1983 amendment to the statute, which added specific language to authorize such a deduction, has resolved the conflict. Ch. 83-305, § 15, Laws of Fla. What COON neglects to mention, however, is that with the sole exception of the Fourth District, every Florida appellate court, including this Court, has construed the 1981 version of section 440.39(3)(a) consistent with the Second District's decision below--i.e., to prohibit reduction of the carrier's 100% lien based on an apportionment of the attorney's fees and costs incurred in employees' suits against third-party tortfeasors.

COON also fails to note that in <u>Alexsis</u>, the Fourth District conceded that "[a] literal reading of the statute appears to require the injured employee to bear <u>all</u> the costs and attorneys' fees involved in the tort recovery. . . . " The court there nonetheless adopted a contrary construction--which it ac-

-4-

knowledged to be in conflict with the First, Second, and Third Districts--based on its perception that the result of applying the statute as written would be "unfair and unreasonable." 471 So.2d at 546-547. Moreover, it is significant that the Fourth District in <u>Alexsis</u> cited as authority for its interpretation the Fifth District's decision in <u>State Division of Risk Management v.</u> <u>McDonald</u>, 436 So.2d 1134 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)--a decision from which the Fifth District has since receded. See <u>American States</u> <u>Insurance v. See-Wai</u>, 472 So.2d 838 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

Alexsis was clearly a departure from the otherwise unanimous interpretation of section 440.39(3)(a) as it existed prior to the 1983 amendment. That a technical decisional conflict exists, however, does not compel an exercise of this Court's discretion to review the decision in this case. Because the conflict has been resolved by the 1983 amendment, this case no longer involves "principles the settlement of which is of importance to the public," nor does it present the kind of "real and embarrassing conflict" that would warrant this Court's attention. See Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958). Quite simply, this conflict arises as a matter of statutory construction, and the proper construction resolves the conflict to render unnecessary an exercise of this Court's so as jurisdiction. See State v. Brown, 476 So.2d 660, 661 (Fla. 1985).

There is absolutely no doubt that the construction given the statute by the Second District in this case is the proper one. Prior to 1977, the statute contained language which was in-

-5-

terpreted to require that when an injured employee obtained a settlement or judgment in litigation against third-party tortfeasors, the worker's compensation carrier's lien on the proceeds of that litigation would be reduced by apportioning a share of the employee's attorney's fees and costs based on the "equitable distribution" formula enunciated in National Ben Franklin Insurance Co. v. Hall, 340 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). In 1977, however, the statute was rewritten in a manner which plainly provides--as the Fourth District itself conceded in Alexsis--that the carrier shall receive 100% of the benefits it has paid out of the employee's net recovery from the third-party tortfeasors, after all the attorney's fees and costs have been deducted from the employee's gross tort recovery.

The effect of the 1977 amendment was first addressed in <u>Lee v. Risk Management</u>, 409 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), where the Third District concluded that

by amending the apportionment requirements out of existence, and by instead stating only that the lien is to be based upon the amount of the "judgment after attorney's fees and costs . . . have been <u>deducted</u> [emphasis supplied]"--<u>in</u> <u>other words, taken off the top as the trial</u> <u>court did below</u>--the legislature has clearly evinced its intention that the burden of these charges is now to be placed on the plaintiff, and conversely that <u>the carrier's reimburse-</u> <u>ment</u> is not to be diminished by any share of those expenses.

409 So.2d at 1165 (emphasis added). In subsequent decisions, the Third District has consistently reaffirmed that the statute precluded apportionment of any attorney's fees and costs to the carrier as was previously authorized under the "equitable

-6-

distribution" formula of <u>National Ben Franklin</u>. <u>Sentry Insurance</u> <u>Co. v. Keefe</u>, 427 So.2d 236 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); see also <u>Cooper</u> <u>Transportation, Inc. v. Mincey</u>, 459 So.2d 339 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), <u>pet. for rev. denied</u>, 472 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1985); <u>Liberty Mutual</u> <u>Insurance Co. v. Rodriguez</u>, 436 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

Third District's conclusion that a carrier's lien The was not subject to the equitable distribution formula under the statute has been upheld by this Court. Although reversing 1981 on an unrelated point, the Court in Aetna Insurance Co. v. Norman, 468 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1985), inherently approved the Third District's ruling that the employee's gross settlement recovery should first be reduced by the entire amount of his attorney's fees and costs, and then "subsection 440.39(3)(a) entitled [the carrier] to receive from the net tort recovery . . . an amount equal to 100% of the benefits paid or to be paid. " 468 So.2d at Moreover, the Court cited Lee v. Risk Management and 227-28. Sentry Insurance with approval, and expressly disapproved the Fifth District's decision in Orange County v. Sealy, 412 So.2d 25 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), which had applied the old National Ben Franklin "equitable proration" formula to the carrier's lien. 468 So.2d at 228.

In the <u>Orange County</u> decision and in <u>State Division of</u> <u>Risk Management v. McDonald</u>, 436 So.2d 1134 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), the Fifth District initially adhered to the "equitable distribution" formula and rejected the Third District's construction of section 440.39(3)(a). As previously noted, however, the Fifth District has now expressly receded from those decisions.

-7-

In <u>American States Insurance v. See-Wai</u>, 472 So.2d 838 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), the Fifth District acknowledged "that the <u>National Ben</u> <u>Franklin</u> formula was abrogated by the 1977 amendment," and concluded that it "must apply the formula set forth by the Third District and approved by the Florida Supreme Court" in <u>Aetna</u> <u>Insurance Co. v. Norman</u>. 472 So.2d at 840-41.

The First District immediately adopted the Third District's interpretation of section 440.39(3)(a) in <u>Risk</u> <u>Management Services, Inc. v. Scott</u>, 414 So.2d 220 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), and then reinforced that construction in <u>Whitely v. United</u> <u>States Fidelity & Guaranty Co</u>., 454 So.2d 63 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), pet. for rev. denied, 462 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 1985):

> [The employee] urges that the trial court erred in requiring him to bear the cost of all attorney's fees in the portion of the settlement proceeds retained by him rather than requiring the carrier to bear a proportionate share of those fees based on its lien recovery. However, 440.39(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1979), specifically provides that carrier should recover from the judgment, the "after attorney's fees and costs incurred by the employee or dependent in that suit have been deducted," 100 percent of the workers' compensation payments it has made. In contrast to prior and subsequent statutes, the 1979 statute makes no provision for apportionment of attorney's fees. Under that statute, to diminish the carrier's reimbursement by any share of the attorney's fees would be error.

454 So.2d at 64-65 (emphasis added). See also <u>City of Tal-</u> <u>lahassee v. Chambliss</u>, 470 So.2d 43, 45 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Since the Second District has also consistently held that there can be no "equitable distribution" under the statute as it existed from 1977 to 1983, C & T Erectors, Inc. <u>v. Case</u>, 481 So.2d 499 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); <u>Hewitt, Coleman & Assoc. v.</u> <u>Grattan</u>, 432 So.2d 125 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), only the Fourth District apparently adheres to the position that <u>National Ben</u> <u>Franklin</u> survived the 1977 amendment and continued to authorize a prorated reduction of a carrier's lien for the employee's attorney's fees and costs. The Fourth District's construction of the statute in <u>Alexsis</u> is clearly incorrect, however, because it deviates from what is conceded to be the plain and unequivocal meaning of the statute, ignores the 1977 amendment, and improperly gives the 1983 amendment retrospective effect. In any event, this Court's decision in <u>Aetna Insurance Co. v. Norman</u>, rendered five days before <u>Alexsis</u>, must now be deemed controlling in all the district courts, as the Fifth District has already held in <u>American States</u>. See <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So.2d 431, 433-34 (Fla. 1973).

COON's second asserted basis for conflict is utterly frivolous. COON assumes that the statute is ambiguous, and that its construction by this Court and by four of the five district courts is wrong; yet even the Fourth District in Alexsis admitted that the plain language of the statute would require the result reached here. that enforcement COON also contends of CONTINENTAL's lien would leave her "with a grand total of \$7,700.00," and that "such an outcome would be directly inconsistent with the overriding statutory purpose of placing the burden of compensation upon the employer. . . . "

This argument ignores the fact that <u>the statute merely</u> provides for reimbursement to the carrier of benefits already

-9-

paid to the employee and dependents when the burden of compensation is shifted to third-party tortfeasors. As the First District has observed, "not to repay to the employer or its insurance carrier the workmen's compensation benefits would permit a double recovery by the plaintiff at the expense of [the] employer, who was not at fault." Tohn v. Montgomery Elevator Co., 400 So.2d 1061, 1062 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). Moreover, COON's statement that the decision below will leave her "with a grand total of \$7,700.00" is a gross distortion; in fact, it leaves COON with a total net from the settlement alone of \$79,064.29 (including the \$71,336.45 previously received in benefits from CONTINENTAL), <u>plus</u> the remainder of the \$1.5 million judgment after setting off the settlement amount and deducting the rest of the attorney's fees and costs.

CONCLUSION

There is no need to prolong this litigation and further delay CONTINENTAL's recovery on its statutory lien. The decision below is clearly correct, and any conflict with the Fourth District is no longer of consequence. Accordingly, this Court should deny the petition for review, or, in the alternative, should summarily approve the decision below and disapprove the Fourth District's decision in Alexsis.

-10-